Filed 03-01-2023

Page 1 of 19

FILED 03-01-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP002153-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THATCHER R. SEHRBROCK,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Dodge County Circuit Court, the Honorable Joseph G. Sciascia, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Mr. Sehrbrock pled guilty to robbery with use of force, as a party to the crime. There was no evidence that he had driven during the offense, and no evidence that he had a history of driving while intoxicated. At sentencing, the circuit court withheld sentence and placed Mr. Sehrbrock on probation with a condition that an ignition interlock device (IID) be installed on any vehicle that Mr. Sehrbrock operates for the next seven years.

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it imposed the IID requirement as a condition of probation?

The circuit court denied Mr. Sehrbrock's postconviction motion to remove or modify the IID requirement.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The briefs should adequately set forth the arguments and publication will likely be unwarranted as the issue presented can be decided on the basis of well-established law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 28, 2020, 17-year-old Thatcher Sehrbrock wore a mask and entered a gas station with Avery Bence. (2:1-2). Bence sprayed the store clerk with pepper spray and took several packs of cigarettes, after which a struggle ensued. (2:2-3). After Bence called for help, Mr. Sehrbrock threw several drinks at the clerk. (2:2-3). He and Bence then fled the scene on foot. (2:2-3).

A complaint charging Mr. Sehrbrock with robbery with use of force, as a party to the crime, was filed on April 26, 2021. (2). Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Sehrbrock pled no contest to that charge on January 7, 2022. (19; 47). After a colloquy, the circuit court accepted Mr. Sehrbrock's plea and ordered that a presentence investigation report (PSI) be prepared. (47:3-15).

The PSI was filed prior to sentencing and, as relevant, set forth Mr. Sehrbrock's version of the offense, criminal history, and substance abuse needs. (22). Mr. Sehrbrock informed the PSI writer that he was intoxicated at the time of the offense and made a bad decision. (22:3). Further, he had sought out treatment after this offense and was no longer drinking alcohol. (22:11, 15, 17). Notably absent from the PSI was any mention of Mr. Sehrbrock having either civil or criminal convictions for operating while intoxicated. (22:5-6).

Sentencing was held on April 19, 2020. After hearing from the parties and considering the required factors, the circuit court withheld sentence and placed Mr. Sehrbrock on probation for seven years. (31; 48:5-33; App. 3, 6-18). The court ordered conditions of probation included: one year of conditional jail time; not to consume alcohol or other intoxicants; maintain absolute sobriety; no bars, taverns, liquor stores or beer tents; and completion of programming as determined by agent. (31:2; 48:30-32; App. 4, 15-17). Further, although it wasn't requested by either party, or the DOC, the circuit court ordered that Mr. Sehrbrock have an IID installed on any vehicle he owns or operates for the duration of his probation:

Any other conditions that come to mind, Attorney Tienstra, that you think ought to be ordered?

ATTORNEY TIENSTRA: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: How about ignition interlock? Somebody who drinks as much as he drinks ought not to be on the road unless he's in a car that has ignition interlock. I'm ordering that for the whole period of probation which will be seven years.

(31:1; 48:32-33; App. 3, 17-18).

After sentencing, Mr. Sehrbrock, through counsel, filed a postconviction motion requesting that the court remove or modify the condition of probation requiring the IID. (51). In it, he argued that the condition was unreasonable, as well as harsh and excessive. (51).

On December 9, 2022, the circuit court held a hearing on Mr. Sehrbrock's postconviction motion. (71; App. 20-35). While the state did not join in Mr. Sehrbrock's request that the condition be removed, it did agree that the length of the IID requirement was harsh and should be reduced. (71:6; App. 25).

The circuit court denied the motion. (63; App. 5). In doing so, it noted that "alcohol is a huge factor in Mr. Sehrbrock's inability to stay out of trouble," and concluded that, therefore, the IID requirement is directly related to his conduct. (71:8-9; App. 27-28). Further, the circuit court found that the fact that Mr. Sehrbrock did not have any OWI's was not a reason not to order the IID: "[o]nce you get to the point where vou're intoxicated, you have given the keys to your life to the devil. And everybody who is in contact with you is in danger because there's no telling what you're going to do." (71:9; App. 28). In essence, the court stated that, due to his history with substance abuse, it had no reason to think that Mr. Sehrbrock would not drive while intoxicated and, for that reason, the IID requirement was necessary to protect the public. (71:9-11; App. 28-30).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by imposing a condition of probation that is both unreasonable, and harsh and excessive.

The probationary condition that Mr. Sehrbrock have an IID installed on any vehicle he operates for the next seven years must be removed. Mr. Sehrbrock was 17 years old at the time of the offense, 18 years old at the time of sentencing, and had no history of operating while intoxicated. The condition is not reasonably related to Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation or the protection of the public. Further, under the circumstances, it is harsh and excessive.

A. The condition requiring an IID is not reasonably related to Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation or conviction.

Neither the parties, nor the Department of Corrections, requested that the circuit court require Mr. Sehrbrock to have an IID installed on any vehicle he operates. The circuit court imposed that condition on its own because, in it's view, the fact that Mr. Sehrbrock was intoxicated at the time of the offense meant that he had "surrendered [his] decision making to the devil," and there is no telling what he will do. (71:8-9; App. 27-28). Requiring Mr. Sehrbrock to have an IID installed on any vehicle he drives is completely unrelated to the offense Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation; it is unreasonable and inappropriate and, for that reason, should be vacated.

Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 10 of 19

Circuit courts have a great deal of discretion at sentencing. Even so, it is well established that the exercise of that discretion "must be set forth on the record," with reference to established considerations. State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶4, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197; Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2),(10m). "In order to have a valid sentence there must be 'a statement by the trial judge detailing his reasons for selecting the particular sentence imposed." Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶¶22, 39 (judges are "required to provide a 'rational and explainable basis' for the sentence."). Further, "[t]he circuit court's proper exercise of discretion includes individualizing the sentence 'to the defendant based on the facts of the case." State v. Alexander, 2015 WI 6, ¶22, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662.

With respect to probation, § 973.09(1)(a), Wis. Stats., "grants to the circuit court broad discretion to place a convicted person on probation and to 'impose any conditions which appear to be reasonable and appropriate' on that probation." State v. Heyn, 155 Wis. 2d 621, 627, 456 N.W.2d 157 (1990). The reasonableness of a condition is measured by how well it serves the two dual objectives of probation: rehabilitation and protection of the community. Id. at 629; See also State v. Steward, 2006 WI App 67, ¶11, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165; State v. Simonetto, 2000 WI App 17, ¶6, 232 Wis. 2d 315, 606 N.W.2d 275.

This court reviews conditions of probation under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Steward, 2006 WI App 67, ¶11. Circuit courts erroneously exercise their discretion when they Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 11 of 19

impose conditions of probation which are not tailored to the individual or the offense for which the defendant is being sentenced, or which "reflect only their idiosyncrasies." *See State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶13, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200.

The IID requirement imposed as a condition of probation in this case is neither individualized to Mr. Sehrbrock, his rehabilitation, nor the facts of the offense he committed. The condition fails to further Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation or the protection of a community interest; it reflects only the circuit court's idiosyncrasies.

When imposing the IID requirement, the circuit court stated only that, "[s]omebody who drinks as much as [Mr. Sehrbrock] drinks ought not to be on the road unless he's in a car that has ignition interlock." (48:33; App. 18). The court gave no explanation for why, in light of the facts of this offense, or Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitative needs, an IID order was necessary. It did not tie the requirement to Mr. Sehrbrock at all. Rather, the circuit court's reasoning with respect to the IID requirement would apply to anyone who has a history of alcohol abuse.

While denying the postconviction motion, the circuit court tried to make a better record regarding the condition, but failed. At the postconviction hearing, the court simply reiterated its position that the IID requirement was reasonable because Mr. Sehrbrock had a history of alcohol abuse and has made bad decisions while drinking. (71:8-9; App. 27-

Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 12 of 19

28). But alcohol isn't known to lead to good decision-making and the circuit court's rationale could be applied to any defendant who committed a crime while under the influence, or who has a history of alcohol abuse. The probationary condition was not tailored to Mr. Sehrbrock or the offense for which he was being sentenced – robbery.

Looking at the facts of this case, and Mr. Sehrbrock as an individual, it becomes apparent that the seven-year IID requirement does not further the goals of probation; it does not advance Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation or the protection of the community. While Mr. Sehrbrock admitted to drinking at the time of the offense, he was not driving the vehicle which brought him to the gas station. (33:3). He also has no history of OWI related offenses. (33:5-7). Moreover, as set forth in the PSI and letters filed with the circuit court, Mr. Sehrbrock was no longer consuming alcohol and he had voluntarily sought out and attended counseling sessions for at least a year prior to sentencing. (24; 33:17).

Moreover, the "no alcohol or other intoxicants," "absolute sobriety," and treatment conditions of probation already offer protection of the community facilitate Mr. Sehrbrock's rehabilitation. See Steward, 2006 WI App 67, ¶17 ("Further, the no contact condition of his probation and supervision, a more narrowly drawn restriction on Stewart, already offers protection to his victims and facilitates his These rehabilitation."). conditions prohibit Mr. Sehrbrock from drinking and require him to

engage in the treatment necessary to help maintain sobriety. If he's not drinking, there is no danger of drinking and driving.

Finally, as explained in more detail below, rather than advancing the goals of probation, the cost of installing and maintaining the IID could prevent Mr. Sehrbrock from obtaining and maintaining employment, or attending treatment, thus impeding his rehabilitation, contrary to the community interest.

Instead of imposing conditions tailored to Mr. Sehrbrock, the circuit court's comments at sentencing and postconviction reveal that the IID requirement was based on the circuit court's own eccentricities. The circuit court began its sentencing comments by addressing what it believed to be a cultural problem and went so far as to encourage the people in the courtroom to contact their state representative:

We live in a substance abuse society where it is considered socially acceptable to go out and get drunk as long as you don't drive. Which is a bad idea. Because when you give yourself permission to get drunk, you're incapable of making a good decision.

...

The point is this, it's time to get serious about this problem of substance abuse. And if anybody tries to tell you that marijuana should be legalized, you should let them know that if you legalize marijuana, what you are doing is you are saying to all the 13-year-olds out there that it's really safe.

Conveying that message is a huge mistake because how many other people, besides

Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 14 of 19

Thatcher, are going to get sucked into that and end up like this? You're telling me that substance abuse is a major reason why we're here, why he's here. And we've got people out there, including the governor, who want to legalize marijuana and let all the 13-year-olds in the world believe that it's okay. So if you want to do something to help Thatcher and others, it's still a free country, we still have the right to contact our legislative officials and let them know where we stand.

(48:22-24; App. 7-9). The circuit court also repeatedly referred to alcohol or addiction as the "devil," even stating that when you "take a drink, you are saying to the devil, here Satan here's the keys to my life." (48:25, 29, 33; App. 10, 14, 18). Postconviction, the circuit court continued to make references to the "devil" and again noted that society's view of alcohol is part of the problem: "Once you get to the point where you're intoxicated, you have given the keys to your life to the devil;" "the fact that you weren't sober means that you surrendered your decision making to the devil."(71:9, 11-12; App. 28, 30-31). The circuit clearly had strong opinions about alcohol and other substances which led to imposition of an IID requirement in a non-OWI case in which the defendant had no history of drinking and driving.

Under the facts of this case, the IID requirement is not necessary or reasonably related to the dual goals of probation. It reflects only the circuit court's idiosyncrasies. The circuit court, therefore, erroneously exercised its discretion and the condition prohibiting Mr. Sehrbrock from operating a motor vehicle without an IID must be vacated.

B. The condition requiring an IID for seven years is harsh and excessive.

Should this court find that the condition does advance the goals of probation, Mr. Sehrbrock asserts that the IID requirement must be vacated as it is unduly harsh and excessive.

"When a defendant argues that his or her sentence is excessive or unduly harsh, a court may find an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion 'only where the sentence is so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *State v. Grindemann*, 2002 WI App 106, ¶31, 255 Wis. 2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507 (quoting *Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975)). This court reviews the circuit court's conclusion that its sentence was not unduly harsh for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 220, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995).

Here, the circuit court imposed a condition requiring Mr. Sehrbrock to have an IID installed on any vehicle he operates for the next seven years. The court did not directly address Mr. Sehrbrock's harsh and excessive claim at the postconviction hearing; instead, it found that the condition was appropriate and stated that Mr. Sehrbrock could file a motion to modify in the future if he can show that he doesn't need the IID and that it's burdensome. (71:11;

Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 16 of 19

App. 30). By failing to articulate the legal standard or make any findings as to why the condition is not excessive or unduly harsh, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. Moreover, under the circumstances, the condition is so excessive, unusual, and disproportionate to Mr. Sehrbrock's offense as to shock the public conscience. Even the state thought it should be modified. (71:6; App. 25).

The seven-year IID requirement imposed on Mr. Sehrbrock is more than twice as long as the maximum IID requirement that could be imposed on a defendant convicted of operating while intoxicated third offense or above. Wis. Stats. §§ 343.30(1q)(b)4. & 343.301(2m). As explained, Mr. Sehrbrock has no history of OWI offenses and was not driving at the time of this offense. Consequently, ordering him to have an IID for longer than someone who has actually put the community at risk by drinking and driving on multiple occasions is harsh and excessive.

Further, the IID requirement in this case has a financial impact. IID's are expensive. According to information obtained from the Wisconsin DOT website, the annual cost of an IID in Wisconsin ranges from a low of \$878 to a high of \$1,260. Wisconsin Ignition Interlock Device Service Centers, available online at https://wisconsindot.gov/Documents/about-wisdot/who-we-are/dsp/iid-service-center-list.pdf.

Taking the average of the two, over seven years, Mr. Sehrbrock would be paying approximately \$7,483 to install, maintain, and remove the IID. This is a significant amount of money for a 19-year-old and

Case 2022AP002153 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-01-2023 Page 17 of 19

could prevent him from having the financial means to live independently.

The cost could also prevent Mr. Sehrbrock from obtaining and maintaining employment, or attending treatment. The cost could prevent Mr. Sehrbrock from having the IID installed, or keeping it installed, thereby preventing him from driving. Mr. Sehrbrock resides in Watertown, which has no public transportation. Without public transportation or the ability to drive to and from work, it would be hard, if not impossible to find and maintain employment, or regularly attend treatment.

The probationary condition prohibiting Mr. Sehrbrock from operating a motor vehicle without an IID is harsh and excessive — it is so disproportionate to his offense as to shock the public sentiment. The condition must be vacated.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Sehrbrock respectfully requests that this court reverse the circuit court's order denying his postconviction motion and vacate the condition of probation prohibiting him from operating a vehicle without an ignition interlock device.