**FILED**  
**05-16-2023**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
C O U R T O F A P P E A L S  
DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP2153-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,  
  
Plaintiff-Respondent,  
  
v.  
  
THATCHER R. SEHRBROCK,  
  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION  
AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION  
RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR  
DODGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE  
JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA PRESIDING

---

**BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA K. BICE  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1058115

Assisted by:  
WILFREDO NAJARRO  
Law Student Extern

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

## ARGUMENT

**Sehrbrock has not shown that the sentencing court erroneously exercised its broad discretion to impose conditions of probation.**

The trial court imposed the reasonable and appropriate condition that Sehrbrock install an IID as a condition of his probation to allow him to remain out of prison and to protect others in the community from him while he served his probation. Nothing limits an IID requirement to OWI convictions, and the sole test for evaluating a probation condition is whether it serves the purposes of rehabilitation and protection of the public. This condition does that.

Nor is the length of the condition excessive, especially in light of the circuit court's clear statements, both at sentencing and at the postconviction motion hearing, that it would remove the condition and even terminate probation early on a showing that it was no longer necessary.

**A. The trial court has broad discretion to impose reasonable and appropriate conditions to protect the public from a felon who is placed on probation.**

A trial court's authority to impose conditions on a term of probation is derived from statute. *See State v. Sepulveda*, 119 Wis. 2d 546, 554, 350 N.W.2d 96 (1984). When a sentencing court chooses to withhold sentence and place the defendant on probation, "[t]he court may impose any conditions which appear to be reasonable and appropriate." Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a).

“[W]hen a judge allows a convicted individual to escape a prison sentence and enjoy the relative freedom of probation, he or she must take reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing.” *State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 12, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200, *opinion clarified on denial of reconsideration*, 2001 WI 123, 248 Wis. 2d 654, 635 N.W.2d 760. “To that end—along with the goal of rehabilitation—the legislature has seen fit to grant circuit court judges broad discretion in setting the terms of probation.” *Id.* Our supreme court “recognize[d] that convicted felons may have trouble conforming their future conduct to the law,” and stated that it therefore would “uphold the power of a judge to tailor individualized probation conditions per Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a).” *Id.* ¶ 13.

“The theory of probation is that one convicted of a crime who is responsive to supervision and guidance may be rehabilitated without being imprisoned.” *State v. Galvan*, 2007 WI App 173, ¶ 14, 304 Wis. 2d 466, 736 N.W.2d 890.

“It is . . . appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized probation conditions are appropriate for a particular person.” *State v. Rowan*, 2012 WI 60, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854. “Unsurprisingly, public safety is often mentioned in connection with the goal of rehabilitation: decreased criminality and greater public safety are logically connected to successful rehabilitation efforts.” *Id.* ¶ 18.

“Whether a condition of extended supervision is reasonable and appropriate is determined by how well it serves the dual goals of supervision: rehabilitation of the defendant and the protection of a state or community interest.” *State v. Miller*, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47.

This Court will uphold a condition of probation that is not directly related to the offense for which the defendant is convicted if it is otherwise valid. This Court has held that a “condition of probation need not directly relate to [the] crime for which [a] defendant [was] placed on probation where [the] defendant needs to be rehabilitated from related conduct.” *State v. Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d 492, 503 n. 9, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997).

Sehrbrock bears the burden of proving that there is sufficient cause to modify or remove the condition of his extended supervision. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 24.

**B. A defendant who challenges a circuit court’s explanation of its sentence in a postconviction ruling has a heavy burden.**

Precedent shows that a reviewing court gives weight to a circuit court’s postconviction explanations when its sentencing statements are challenged. Our supreme court has stated, in a case considering a circuit court’s postconviction explanation of its sentencing decision, “We do not, as a matter of course, presume that judges act capriciously without clear evidence supporting their actions.” *State v. Robinson*, 2014 WI 35, ¶ 48, 354 Wis. 2d 351, 847 N.W.2d 352. “Quite the contrary—taking judges at their word is a fundamental assumption built into our legal system.” *Id.* “In the absence of clear evidence to the contrary,” a reviewing court will “decline to assign improper motive on the part of the circuit court.” *Id.*

It is true that a circuit court’s postconviction explanation of a challenged statement is not dispositive. *See State v. Groth*, 2002 WI App 299, ¶ 28, 258 Wis. 2d 889, 655 N.W.2d 163. But the defendant has the burden to provide “clear evidence to the contrary,” *Robinson*, 354 Wis. 2d 351, ¶ 48, and the circuit court’s explanation is credited unless such evidence is provided.

**C. The record contains reasons to sustain the circuit court's exercise of discretion.**

A circuit court that makes the decision to allow a convicted person to be placed on probation rather than sending the person to prison has an obligation to the public to “take reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing.” *Oakley*, 245 Wis. 2d 447, ¶ 12. When the circuit court does so, this Court must “look for reasons to sustain” its decision. *Williams-Holmes*, 404 Wis. 2d 88, ¶ 15. The question a reviewing court is to ask is whether “the condition is reasonably related to the dual purposes” of defendant rehabilitation and public protection. *Miller*, 283 Wis. 2d 465, ¶ 13.

This Court thus is to look at this record for reasons to sustain the circuit court's conclusion that the IID condition is reasonably related to Sehrbrock's rehabilitation and public protection. The record contains ample reasons to do so.

The circuit court's stated reason for imposing the condition was that, due to his heavy drinking, Sehrbrock “ought not be on the road unless he's in a car that has ignition interlock.” (R. 48:33.) A fair inference from that statement is that the circuit court was thinking of others “on the road” and their safety. It made that link explicit at the postconviction motion hearing when it stated that it was unwilling to expose the public to the risk of having Sehrbrock on the road without an IID. (R. 71:10–12.) It also stated that the IID would protect Sehrbrock from himself—implying that it would prevent him from driving a car while intoxicated. (R. 71:12.)

This Court should credit the circuit court's explanation. *See Robinson*, 354 Wis. 2d 351, ¶ 48.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court's explanation is inadequate to establish that the condition is reasonably related to Sehrbrock's rehabilitation and public safety, it is to “look for reasons” in the record to sustain the

circuit court's decision. *Williams-Holmes*, 404 Wis. 2d 88, ¶ 15. There is no question on this record that Sehrbrock's alcoholism is severe, that it played a significant role in his criminal conduct, and that Sehrbrock had, at the time of the circuit court's decision in this case, made no showing that he could be trusted to make the decision to drive only while sober. Instead, the record showed that even after his conviction, Sehrbrock continued to show a high tolerance for risk and rule-breaking, and dangerous substance use. Despite signing a form instructing him not to report for his sentence intoxicated, he showed up at the jail so impaired he had to be sent to the hospital. (R. 39:1.) He told jail staff that he had consumed most of a bottle of vodka the previous day and had taken unprescribed Percocet pills. (R. 39:2.) This violation resulted in the loss of his work-release privileges for 60 days. (R. 41.) He later was found to be hiding an unprescribed pill (R. 58), and this violation resulted in the revocation of his work-release privileges for the remainder of his conditional jail sentence. (R. 60.)

Nor is there any question on this record that the circuit court considered imposing prison but that Sehrbrock's age weighed against a prison disposition. The court told him, "You are getting the benefit of the fact that you're a young person." (R. 48:30.)

The record also shows that the circuit court tried to impress on Sehrbrock what was at stake with his substance abuse. It referred to having served as the drug court judge. (R. 48:25.) It mentioned how "depressing" it is to read PSI reports detailing alcohol and drug use like Sehrbrock's "time after time." (R. 48:22.) It described watching people "go to inpatient and go through, hold their breath for a year in drug court and walk out of there with a certificate and get arrested two days later for dealing." (R. 48:25.) This was the context in which the circuit court made its comments comparing



addition to “the devil,” telling Sehrbrock, “[Y]ou are up against the most powerful devil in the world.” (R. 48:25.)

The circuit court knew based on Sehrbrock’s history and its own judicial experience that the risk was great that Sehrbrock would drink again if he was not in prison. Consistent with its responsibility to protect the community from a felon it was leaving out of prison, it used a tool at its disposal to keep him from driving and endangering others—and committing another crime. *See Rowan*, 341 Wis. 2d 281, ¶ 18 (“Unsurprisingly, public safety is often mentioned in connection with the goal of rehabilitation: decreased criminality and greater public safety are logically connected to successful rehabilitation efforts.”).

The record contains reasons for this Court to sustain the circuit court’s exercise of discretion.

**D. Sehrbrock’s arguments are unpersuasive.**

Sehrbrock argues that the IID condition “must be removed” because it is unrelated either to his rehabilitation or to public safety. (Sehrbrock’s Br. 9.) He is wrong.

He implies that it was improper that the circuit court “imposed that condition on its own” even though no party requested it. (Sehrbrock’s Br. 9.) But a judge who imposes probation rather than a prison sentence for a felony “must take reasonable judicial measures to protect society and potential victims from future wrongdoing.” *Oakley*, 245 Wis. 2d 447, ¶ 12. It is therefore not relevant that the parties did not request the condition.

He argues that the circuit court imposed the condition “because, in its view, the fact that Mr. Sehrbrock was intoxicated at the time of the offense meant that he had ‘surrendered [his] decision making to the devil,’” (Sehrbrock’s Br. 9), but this statement is an imprecise characterization of the transcript. The circuit court did not say it was imposing



the condition because Sehrbrock was intoxicated at the time of the offense. When it imposed the condition, it stated, “Somebody who drinks as much as he drinks ought not be on the road unless he’s in a car that has ignition interlock.” (R. 48:33.)

Sehrbrock argues that the IID condition is “completely unrelated” to the robbery offense. (Sehrbrock’s Br. 9.) But this Court sustains probation conditions even when they do not “directly relate” to the offense, so long as the “defendant needs to be rehabilitated from related conduct.” *Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d at 503 n. 9. On this record, a condition that prevented Sehrbrock from driving while intoxicated would not be improper, given his need to be rehabilitated from the “related conduct” of substance abuse, regardless of whether he was intoxicated during the robbery.

Sehrbrock also argues that the IID condition is “completely unrelated” to his rehabilitation. (Sehrbrock’s Br. 9.) He is wrong. The circuit court viewed it as a guardrail to protect Sehrbrock from himself. (R. 71:12.) It is fair to infer from the context that it meant that the IID condition would keep him from risking an OWI offense. Just before that comment, the court had stated that Sehrbrock had gotten himself “into a lot of trouble” with alcohol. (R. 71:12.)

Sehrbrock argues that the circuit court insufficiently explained its reasoning because it “did not tie the requirement to Mr. Sehrbrock at all.” (Sehrbrock’s Br. 11.) But that ignores the larger context of the record, which is that the court was making the risky decision to impose probation in a situation that called for prison—and make public safety decisions accordingly. That context is what ties the requirement to Sehrbrock.

He implies that the condition was unnecessary because “as set forth in the PSI and letters filed with the circuit court, Mr. Sehrbrock was no longer consuming alcohol . . . .”

(Sehrbrock's Br. 12.) This appears to refer to two letters filed before the sentencing. (R. 24.) Sehrbrock did not argue in his postconviction motion or hearing that he was no longer consuming alcohol. (R. 51:1–7.) Nor could he. The circuit court had been informed of Sehrbrock's post-sentencing alcohol use by both the jail and by Sehrbrock's mother. (R. 38; 39.)

Sehrbrock argues that the conditions of absolute sobriety and required treatment “already offer protection of the community” and make the IID condition unnecessary. (Sehrbrock's Br. 12.) He cites to language from a case where this Court made a similar comment, but he does not provide the context for that comment. In that case, this Court held that a probation condition that banished a defendant from a township in order to protect several neighbors he had victimized was unconstitutionally overbroad. *State v. Stewart*, 2006 WI App 67, ¶ 16, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165. The condition was challenged on constitutional grounds because it imposed geographical limitations, and the Court's comment about the other conditions that protected the victims was part of the constitutional analysis—whether the aims of the condition could be accomplished in a way that was not “unduly restrictive of [the defendant's] liberties.” *Id.* ¶ 22. The *Stewart* language has no relevance here because there is no constitutional dimension to this case and thus no requirement that the condition be narrowly drawn.

Sehrbrock argues that merely telling him not to drink is sufficient: “If he's not drinking, there is no danger of drinking and driving.” (Sehrbrock's Br. 13.) A circuit court that is taking measures to protect the public from a potentially dangerous felon is not required to accept that assertion.

Sehrbrock argues that the imposition of the expense of the IID condition is counterproductive to his rehabilitation. (Sehrbrock's Br. 13.) It is reasonable to expect that the circuit court, having experience in drug court, would be aware of the

relevant pros and cons of IIDs. Such decisions are well within the circuit court's sound discretion.

Sehrbrock argues that the condition is, if nothing else, too long, and this Court should shorten it. But this argument fails logically because the court imposed it to protect the public and made a clear record at both sentencing and at the postconviction motion hearing that it would modify the condition or terminate probation early if Sehrbrock showed that it was no longer needed because he was doing well. If Sehrbrock fails to maintain sobriety, the public will still need the protection the condition is intended to provide. If he succeeds, the condition can be lifted. There is no basis for the conclusion that the circuit court has discretion to protect the public for one year and not for seven.

Finally, Sehrbrock quotes at length from the circuit court's remarks addressing Sehrbrock on the topic of addiction, especially its references to "the devil." (Sehrbrock's Br. 13–14.) As noted above, the context of the sentencing reflects the circuit court's understandable frustration at the heartbreak of addiction, and its understandable attempt to impress on an 18-year-old defendant how high the stakes are. Rejecting a claim that a trial judge had been insufficiently neutral in the courtroom, the Wisconsin Supreme Court stated the obvious: "[J]udges are human and their emotions are influenced by the same human feelings as other people." *Breunig v. American Family Ins. Co.*, 45 Wis. 2d 536, 547, 173 N.W.2d 619 (1970). That happened here. But a complete reading of the transcript supports the conclusion that the circuit court listened to the parties and accepted a resolution that was unusually lenient on these facts. This record contains ample reasons to sustain the circuit court's exercise of discretion.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.